IN THE FLORIDA SUPREME COURT CASE NO. 10-794

Bond Validation Appeal From a Final Judgment of the Circuit Court of the First Judicial Circuit, Okaloosa County, Florida (L.T. Case No. 2008-CA-6280-S)

MARGARET P. DONOVAN, JOHN S. DONOVAN, CAROLE A. RAND, KENNETH S. RAND, REBECCA R. SHERRY, DAVID H. SHERRY, and OCEANIA OWNERS' ASSOCIATION, INC., a Florida not for profit corporation,

Appellants,

v.

OKALOOSA COUNTY, FLORIDA, a political subdivision of the State of Florida,

Appellee.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

HOPPING GREEN & SAMS, P.A.,

INTRODUCTION

In this case, the County seeks to validate bonds for two beach restoration projects funded in part by a Municipal Service Benefit Unit. A primary issue is whether the County violated the state and federal constitutions by levying a special assessment on private property for a beach restoration project that will take portions of that property and allow the assessed funds to be used toward the payment of just or full compensation to the owners. This Court's decision in Walton County v. Stop the Beach Renourishment, Inc., 998 So. 2d 1102, 1118 n.15 (Fla. 2008), establishes that the beach restoration projects at issue will result in a taking of private property, including privately owned submerged water bottoms out to the pre-avulsive mean high water line (in Destin) and private exclusive use easements (on Okaloosa Island). In such circumstances, the state and federal constitutions require that just or full compensation be paid to the property owner (or property rights owner); they do not allow a government to levy a tax or assessment against the owner to help pay for the property it is taking *from* him. Therefore, the bonds in this case that allow for the funds to be used to pay any cost associated with the beach restoration projects are unconstitutional.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

I. Nature of the Case

This case is an appeal from a final judgment of the First Judicial Circuit Court validating certain revenue bonds to be issued by Okaloosa County, Florida (the "County" or "Appellee") in an amount not exceeding \$20,000,000, the security therefor, and all proceedings relating thereto.¹

II. Factual Background

On October 21, 2008, the County's Board of County Commissioners adopted Resolution No. 2008-201 (the "Bond Resolution"), authorizing the issuance of revenue bonds to partially fund a proposed beach restoration project on part of Okaloosa Island ("Okaloosa Restoration") and in western Destin ("Destin Restoration") (collectively the "Project"). (Order, p. 2; App. A, ex. A.) The revenues pledged for repayment of the bonds include special assessments levied against properties within the boundaries of a Municipal Service Benefit Unit ("MSBU"), which the County created under Section 125.01(1)(q), Florida Statutes (2007), by adopting Ordinance No. 07-71 on December 4, 2007 (the "MSBU

¹ The circuit court's order is included in Volume 1 of the Appendix submitted by Appellants with this Initial Brief and references herein to the order are denoted by parentheses containing "Order" followed by the appropriate page or paragraph number (e.g., "(Order, p. __.)"). Other references to the Record on Appeal are made with citation to the Appendix and are denoted by parentheses containing "App." followed by the appropriate tab of the Appendix and an appropriate subdivision within that tab (e.g., "(App. __, p. __.)" or "(App. __, § __.)").

Ordinance").² (Order p. 2-3; App. B, § 2.) The assessments are to be collected annually for eight years from owners and leaseholders of assessed properties in the MSBU. (App. B, pp. 3-4; App. E, p. 3.)

The MSBU includes "two separate sub-assessment areas" roughly drawn to coincide with the two proposed beach restoration project areas. (Order pp. 3-4; App. B, § 2.) The east and west boundaries of the Okaloosa Island sub-assessment area generally span about three miles of beachfront adjacent to the proposed Okaloosa Restoration ("Okaloosa Sub-assessment Area"). The Destin sub-assessment area originally covered approximately 3.2 miles of beachfront in the proposed Destin Restoration, but was later reduced to about 1.7 miles ("Destin Sub-assessment Area"). ³

The MSBU Ordinance, at Sections 6 through 10, expressly requires that the County must adopt an "initial assessment resolution", prepare and give notice of a "preliminary assessment roll" (both by publication and by mail to owners of

² The City of Destin consented to the establishment of the MSBU within the City limits. (Order, p. 3, n.1.)

³ Specifically, on October 7, 2008, the County adopted Ordinance No. 08-36 to amend the MSBU Ordinance by redrawing the MSBU to remove about 1.5 miles of beachfront properties from the Destin Sub-assessment Area. (App. C, § 2.) On the same date, the County adopted Resolution No. 08-192 to drop those properties from the assessment roll. (App. D, § 6.) These properties were removed following this Court's ruling in *Stop the Beach Renourishment, Inc.* because the properties had not been designated as "critically eroded" for purposes of the Beach and Shore Preservation Act ("Act"), Chapter 161, Florida Statutes. (App. D, p. 3; *see* App. C, p. 1.)

affected properties), hold a public hearing, and only then adopt the final assessment roll. Section 6, requiring the "initial assessment resolution", spells out the mandatory procedure:

The *initial proceeding* for the Assessment Areas and imposition of an Assessment *shall* be the Board's adoption of an *Initial* Assessment Resolution. The Initial Assessment Resolution shall (A) describe the real property to be located within the Assessment Area; (B) describe the Local Improvement or Related Service proposed for funding from proceeds of the Assessments; (C) estimate the Capital Cost, Service Cost, or Project Cost in the event Obligations are to be issued; (D) describe with particularity the proposed method of apportioning the Capital Cost, Service Cost, or Project Cost among the parcels of real property located within the proposed Assessment Area, such that the owner of any parcel of property can objectively determine the number of Assessment Units and the amount of the Assessment; (E) describe the provisions, if any, for acceleration and prepayment of the Assessment; (F) describe the provisions, if any, for reallocating the Assessment upon future subdivision; and (G) include specific legislative findings that recognize the fairness provided by the apportionment methodology. (Emphasis added).

The County never adopted an "initial assessment resolution" before giving

notice to owners as required by Sections 6 et seq. of the MSBU Ordinance.

Instead, the County gave notice of proposed assessments which the Board of

County Commissioners had never approved. Then, on August 7, 2008, the County

adopted Resolution No. 08-125 (the "Initial/Final Assessment Resolution"), which

purported to be both the initial and final assessment resolutions for the imposition

of the special assessments within the MSBU. (Order, p. 3; App. E, § 5.)

The County thus violated its own mandate in Section 6 of the MSBU Ordinance, under which an initial assessment resolution would first be adopted to specifically define the assessment area, the proposed project, the estimated cost, and the apportionment methodology, and to make specific legislative findings of fairness. As a consequence, the "preliminary" assessment rolls made available for public inspection before the August 7, 2008 Initial/Final Assessment Resolution were entirely without legal effect because they had never even been promulgated by the Board of County Commissioners as the MSBU Ordinance contemplated.

The Initial/Final Assessment Resolution provided that collection of the assessments would commence in November of 2008 "and continue in an equal amount for eight (8) years." (App. E, § 8.) The County began collection of the assessments in the fall of 2008, around the time of its adoption of the Bond Resolution. (*See* App. E, § 8.)

The Initial/Final Assessment Resolution, at Section 9, provided that "The adoption of this Final Assessment Resolution shall be the final adjudication of the issues presented herein . . . unless proper steps are initiated in a court of competent jurisdiction to secure relief within 20 days from the date of the Board action on this Final Assessment Resolution." Appellants and others timely filed suits in the

Circuit Court of Okaloosa County to challenge the Initial/Final Assessment Resolution, the MSBU, and the assessments on a number of grounds.⁴

The only support the County had for the apportionment methodology in the Initial/Final Assessment Resolution was the Okaloosa County Funding Feasibility Study for beach restoration on Okaloosa Island and City of Destin ("Funding Feasibility Study") dated October 1, 2007, which the resolution expressly approved and incorporated by reference. (App. E, § 5.) The Funding Feasibility Study was prepared by a coastal management consultant under contract with the unelected Okaloosa County Tourist Development Council ("TDC"). The contract between TDC and consultant Coastal Technology Corporation ("Coastal Tech") required only a preliminary review and very rough estimates ("conceptual" MSBU boundaries and "order of magnitude" assessments) to help the County explore whether an MSBU was a feasible funding mechanism for the proposed Project. (App. Z, pp. 3-4, 6.) As discussed below, although the County legislatively found that at least eight categories of benefits, including County-wide benefits, would flow from the Project (App. E, § 4(D)), its apportionment methodology considered only two: "recreation" and "storm damage reduction", (App. F, p. 9).

⁴ Appellants' suits asserting objections to the MSBU and assessments are Case Nos. 2008-CA-004669-S and 2008-CA-004670-S.

III. Course of the Proceedings

Rather than litigate Appellants' circuit court cases challenging the MSBU, the County initiated the bond validation proceeding in the court below on November 13, 2008. In its Complaint for Validation, the County prayed for an order validating and confirming the bonds, the security therefor and the proceedings related thereto. On December 5, 2008, the Circuit Court issued an order to show cause why the proposed bonds and the proceedings authorizing them should not be validated.

Appellants⁵ intervened in the validation proceeding pursuant to Section 75.07, Florida Statutes (2008)⁶. They filed answers, affirmative defenses, and counterclaims for declaratory relief invalidating the bonds, the security therefor (the MSBU special assessments), and the proceedings relating thereto (the MSBU Ordinance and the Initial/Final Assessment Resolution).⁷ Appellants maintained

⁵ "Appellants" refers collectively to an association of owners and individuals who own or lease real property located within the boundaries of the MSBU, have intervened in this proceeding, and are subject to the special assessments imposed by the County as security for repayment of the bonds at issue. During the course of the litigation, Intervenors Carole A. Rand and Kenneth S. Rand (collectively "Rands") sold their interest in the real property subject to the special assessments; however, the Rands maintain standing in this proceeding because they have paid special assessments under the MSBU at issue.

⁶ Unless indicated otherwise, all citations to Florida Statutes reference the 2008 version of the statutes.

⁷ Because the County initiated this validation proceeding after requiring opponents to file suit within 20 days from the Initial/Final Assessment Resolution, Appellants

that the assessments were unlawful and should not be charged or collected, or, if collected, must be refunded. (App. CC, pp. 23-24, ¶ F.44.)

In response to Appellants' counterclaims, the County filed an answer which repeatedly admitted that any special benefit from the proposed Project to be partially funded by the bonds was still uncertain: "[B]ecause the specifics of the Project have not been approved [by the Florida Department of Environmental Protection], the County is without knowledge at this point in time of where the sand will be placed" (App. G, ¶¶ 23, 24, 69.) Based on this admission, Appellants argued that since the County did not even know the Project area, all of its assertions about special benefit to assessed properties were entirely speculative. (App. CC, p. 24, ¶ F.45.)

The Circuit Court heard preliminary argument on January 2, 2009, the date initially set for the hearing, and then reset the hearing for April 8, 2009, to allow the parties to conduct expedited discovery. (*See* Order, p. 2.) The hearing went forward as scheduled on April 8, 2009, but carried over to August 13 and 14, 2009. (Order, p. 2.) During three full days of trial, a number of witnesses testified and numerous documents were introduced into evidence.

were forced to reallege in this proceeding the same objections and issues they had already asserted in their earlier filed suits challenging the MSBU and the assessments.

In the middle of the April-to-August 2009 trial recess, the County attempted to remedy its legal error in this case, but it succeeded only in making more egregious mistakes. In particular, on June 16, 2009, the County adopted two new resolutions. One of them, No. 09-105, is an amended and restated "initial assessment resolution" which entirely replaced the August 7, 2008 Initial/Final Assessment Resolution, and which adopted, for the first time, a "preliminary assessment roll" in compliance with the two-step process mandated by the MSBU Ordinance. (App. H, § 6.) The other new resolution, No. 09-104, made 43 "corrections" to the existing preliminary/final assessment roll promulgated the year before in the Initial/Final Assessment Resolution. (App. I, p. 3; App. J, p. 1.)

The new June 2009 "initial assessment resolution", No. 09-105, was an attempt to try to retroactively "eliminate" the County's legal mistake of the prior year when it combined the initial and final assessment resolutions in violation of the two-step process mandated by the MSBU Ordinance. (*See* App. K, p. 1.) But the County scheduled its consideration of the proposed new amended and restated "final" assessment resolution for a Board of County Commissioners meeting to be held on August 18, 2009, four days *after* the trial of the validation proceeding below was set to conclude. (*See* App. L, p. 7.) The County also scheduled for the same date—four days *after* the trial ended—its consideration of an amended MSBU ordinance that would yet again change the boundaries of the Destin Sub-

assessment Area (by adding a parcel). (See App. M, pp. 1-2.)

At trial, Appellants objected to the introduction of the new June 2009 resolutions and the unadopted resolution and ordinance proposed for consideration in August 2009 after the trial, to the extent the County might be offering them to impliedly expand the pleadings to include validation of those uncompleted proceedings. (Order, p. 10, ¶ 17; App. N, pp. 411-18.) The June and August 2009 measures were not part of the County's complaint for validation, and the County never amended to include them. The circuit court preserved Appellants' objections, and admitted the documents only for other purposes. (App. N, p. 418.)

The June 2009 resolutions and the proposed post-trial resolution and ordinance are, in effect, admissions by the County that it had erred in 2008 when it failed to approve a preliminary assessment roll and instead combined the initial and final assessment resolutions. In fact, as discussed below, the absence of a final assessment resolution is a failure by the County to satisfy a condition precedent to filing the validation proceeding, and such a failure deprived the circuit court of jurisdiction.⁸

During the course of the hearing, the circuit court declined to dismiss the County's validation complaint for lack of jurisdiction, or on any other basis urged by Appellants. (App. EE, pp. 13-30 (ruling on Motion for Summary Judgment),

⁸ Moreover, the County's uncompleted proceedings showed conclusively that any validation of the security for the bonds was premature at the time of trial.

496-514, 519-21 (ruling on Motion for Involuntary Dismissal).)

IV. Disposition Below

Immediately upon the conclusion of the hearing on August 14, 2009, the circuit court gave oral reasons and ruled that it would grant validation. Although expressing disappointment at the unconventional way the County had handled the MSBU (App. O, p. 862), the court rested its decision entirely on its view of the burden of proof in a validation proceeding, (App. O, pp. 858-65; *see also* Order, p. 15). The circuit court later issued a written Final Judgment filed March 31, 2010. As discussed below, the court's reasons were flawed.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The County desires to implement beach restoration projects for the benefit of the public as a whole and seeks validation of bonds to be used to fund the projects. Despite the asserted public purpose of the beach restoration, however, the County desires that only owners of property within proximity to the restoration fund the shortfall from public sources for bond repayment. To this end, the County created a Municipal Service Benefit Unit, intending to force the landowners therein to pay special assessments for the alleged benefits of beach restoration that will provide a general public benefit—only incidentally providing any private benefit. Such an assessment in and of itself violates the landowners' private property rights protected by both the State and federal constitutions, but this assessment is particularly repugnant, as the County can apply the collected assessments to compensate the assessed property owners for any taking of their property rights associated with the beach restoration.

The circuit court's failure to require that the County satisfy conditions precedent to bond validation also violated Appellants' due process rights. First, the County's ordinance that authorizes the County to adopt a resolution to impose assessments requires a two-step adoption process, whereby the public would be provided notice after adoption of an initial assessment resolution and prior to adoption of the final assessment resolution. The County's adoption of a joint initial/final assessment resolution in contravention of the County's own ordinance therefore not only violated Appellant's due process rights, but deprived the circuit court of jurisdiction to validate the resolution. Validation proceedings are creatures of statute and the requirements of any statute which authorizes indebtedness must be met for the court's jurisdiction to exist.

Second, this Court has held that a bond issue for a beach erosion project cannot be validated unless the local government first makes a reasonable showing that regulatory approval for the project will be obtained (and that work in advance of approval will not lead to irreparable harm should approval be denied) *and* the court affirmatively judges the showing to be sufficient.⁹ In the proceeding below, the County made no showing whatsoever that the project will be permitted, and, consequently, the circuit court did not adjudge (and it could not adjudge) the nonexistent showings by the County to be sufficient.

Additionally, it is fundamentally inconsistent for the circuit court to find that the private property burdened by the special assessments will derive a "direct, special benefit" from the restoration—a condition of the assessment's validity— where the circuit court validated the bonds because the beach restoration serves a paramount public (as a whole) purpose. This Court has previously held that beach restoration, for which the benefit to shore owners is incidental to the public's interest in preservation of the shore line, is appropriately funded through issuance of general obligation bonds—*not* bonds funded by special assessments.

Moreover, the circuit court erred by completely deferring to the County's biased and arbitrary "legislative findings" in the MSBU Ordinance and the Initial/Final Assessment Resolution. A trial court's factual findings in a bond validation proceeding are required to be supported by "substantial competent evidence", and while legislative findings are afforded deference, the mere fact that the enactment containing the legislative findings is introduced during the bond validation hearing does not constitute *per se* the substantial competent evidence

⁹ Moreover, an adverse party must not present strong and convincing proof to the contrary.

necessary to support the court's findings. In comparison, the record below (and on appeal) demonstrates that the assessments do not provide the required direct, special benefit to the burdened property and that the apportionment methodology is palpably arbitrary. The circuit court's order dedicates 19 paragraphs recognizing Appellants' presentation of evidence in support of the same, but ultimately validates the bonds based on an incorrect application of the burden of proof in a validation proceeding.

Finally, it was error for the circuit court to validate the special assessments as security for the bonds because the new land created by the beach restoration will belong to the State and exist outside of the boundaries of the MSBU. The statute authorizing creation of a MSBU expressly requires that services derived from special assessments be provided within the boundaries of the MSBU.

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