IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA Case No. SC10-794 L.T. Case No. 2008-CA-006280S

Bond Validation Appeal From a Final Judgment of the First Judicial Circuit, Okaloosa County, Florida

MARGARET P. DONOVAN, JOHN S. DONOVAN, CAROLE A. RAND, KENNETH S. RAND, REBECCA R. SHERRY, DAVID H. SHERRY, and OCEANIA OWNERS' ASSOCIATION, INC., a Florida not for profit corporation,

Appellants,

v.

OKALOOSA COUNTY, FLORIDA, a political subdivision of the State of Florida,

Appellee.

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE OKALOOSA COUNTY, FLORIDA

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

availed themselves of the proper remedy by admittedly bringing a separate administrative challenge regarding the permit issues; the permit issues are not properly resolved through these proceedings. Fourth, the Project both serves a public purpose and confers a special benefit on assessed property, by restoring critically eroded shoreline. Last, the benefits of the Project will be conferred on property within the MSBU, and there is no requirement that all of the sand be placed completely within the boundaries of the unit. Accordingly, the Final Judgment of the trial court should be affirmed.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The scope of judicial inquiry in bond validation proceedings is limited to determining (1) whether the public body has the authority to issue bonds, (2) whether the purpose of the obligation is legal, and (3) whether the bond issuance complies with the requirements of law. See Poe v. Hillsborough County, 695 So. 2d 672, 675 (Fla. 1997) (citing Rowe v. St. Johns County, 668 So. 2d 196 (Fla. 1996)); Taylor v. Lee County, 498 So. 2d 424, 425 (Fla. 1986). Within the purview of the scope of validation is also the determination of the validity of the underlying securing revenue. City of Boca Raton v. State, 595 So. 2d 25 (Fla. 1992); State v. City of Port Orange, 650 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 1994); State v. Sarasota County, 693 So. 2d 546 (Fla. 1997).

Appellee agrees that this Court reviews the "trial court's findings of fact for substantial competent evidence and its conclusions of law de novo." <u>Strand v.</u> <u>Escambia County</u>, 992 So. 2d 150, 154 (Fla. 2008). "The final judgment of validation comes to this Court clothed with a presumption of correctness." Id.

ARGUMENT

I. THE SPECIAL ASSESSMENT DOES NOT VIOLATE THE CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS OF THE PROPERTY OWNERS WITHIN THE MSBU.

Appellants characterize their initial point in the context of a prohibition of the use of special assessments for the funding of the "taking of property." (Initial Brief at 15). However, the argument largely ignores this funding issue, but rather is premised on the purported existence of a taking of property under the provision of the Beach and Shore Preservation Act (Part I of Chapter 161, Florida Statutes). Appellants' argument fails on both issues.

At the time of the trial in this cause, the Project had not been permitted by DEP. Many of Appellants arguments below prematurely addressed aspects of the Project that are more appropriately argued in an administrative forum, after a notice of intent to issue such a permit in released, and with the participation of DEP. In fact, the Appellants herein are indeed currently challenging such a notice of intent, as they provide in their Initial Brief. Among the issues raised as to the expected permit, Appellants raised a takings argument based on where they

anticipated the Erosion Control Line (ECL) would be set for the Project, and also based on a perceived loss of their littoral or riparian rights following the establishment of this line. At the time of trial, the ECL line had not been set by the Board of Trustees of the Internal Improvement Trust Fund ("Board of Trustees").⁷

Under state statutes, the ECL is set for a beach restoration project to act as the new property line separating state owned land from upland property. §§ 161.141-161.211, Fla. Stat. (2009). In locating the ECL, the Board of Trustees is "guided by the existing line of mean high water, bearing in mind the requirements of proper engineering in the beach restoration project, the extent to which erosion or avulsion has occurred, and the need to protect existing ownership of as much upland as is reasonably possible." § 161.161(5), Fla. Stat. (2009). Once the ECL line is recorded, the common law no longer operates "to increase or decrease the proportions of any upland property lying landward of such line, either by accretion or erosion or any other natural or artificial process." § 161.191(2), Fla. Stat. (2009). However, section 161.201, Florida Statutes, expressly preserves the upland owners' littoral rights.

The statutory ECL procedures were challenged before this Court recently in Walton County v. Stop the Beach Renourishment, Inc., 998 So. 2d 1102 (Fla.

⁷ The proposed permit actually does not establish on ECL, but rather requires a preconstruction mean high water line to be established.

2008). In that case, the issue was whether the Beach and Shore Preservation Act unconstitutionally deprived upland owners of littoral rights without just compensation. The Court answered this question in the negative, determining that the right to accretion under Florida law was a contingent right, and that the littoral right of access to the water was protected by the Act. The Court also emphasized that the Act worked to achieve a reasonable balance between public and private interests in the shore. Id.

The decision of the Florida Supreme Court was recently upheld by the United States Supreme Court in Stop the Beach Renourishment, Inc. v. Florida Department of Environmental Protection, 177 L. Ed. 184 (June 17, 2010). In unanimously affirming the decision of this Court, the Supreme Court concluded that the decision was consistent with background principles of state property law. Therefore, the argument raised by Appellants in this cause as to whether there is a taking at all is suspect.⁸

However, Appellants also argue that under certain circumstances, the Project at issue would cause a taking of private property through the improper location of

⁸ Appellants' Initial Brief was filed prior to the decision of the United States Supreme Court and clearly were assuming a different result.

the ECL for the Project by the Board of Trustees. However, such an issue is properly addressed in separate proceedings, with the participation of DEP and the Board of Trustees, and is not relevant to this bond validation. Pursuant to section 161.141, Florida Statutes, the legislature has declared "that there is no intention on the part of the state to extend its claims to lands not already held by it or to deprive any upland or submerged land owner of the legitimate and constitutional use and enjoyment of his or her property." Additionally, even if a court does determine that a beach restoration project results in an unreasonable exercise of the state's police power constituting a taking without just compensation, the agency would have the option to either issue the permit and pay appropriate monetary damages, or to agree to modify its decision to avoid an unreasonable exercise of police power. § 161.212(3), Fla. Stat. (2009).

Appellants creatively argue on appeal that "for the potential bonds to pass constitutional muster they must contain an explicit restriction preventing any MSBU funds from being used to compensate any landowner for a taking." (Initial Brief at 17). However, there is no such requirement in the law, and Appellants provide no authority in support of this specific argument. Further, this argument is expressly linked to the issue of whether the Beach and Shore Preservation Act

⁹ This argument at best can only apply to Appellant Oceania Owners' Association, whose members are allegedly owners of littoral property. None of the other Appellants own property to the mean high water line.

facially deprives property owners of their littoral property rights. As this takings argument has been rejected by this Court and affirmed by the United States Supreme Court, there is no basis for Appellants' argument here.

Though no taking is present in this matter, there is no requirement that prohibits the use of assessments for acquisition of property, regardless of the manner that it is acquired. There is absolutely no express limitation on which local revenue sources may be used to compensate a property owner whose property is taken by eminent domain. The test is whether that revenue may be expended to fund the costs of the Project, and not who contributes to that particular revenue source. As long as a special assessment is used to provide a service or improvement which provides the requisite benefit, then that is all that is required. To accept Appellants' argument would lead to absurd results. For example, property owners also pay ad valorem taxes, sales taxes and a wide variety of other revenues. Under their argument, no tax revenue could be used to pay for property taken by eminent domain, because they had contributed to the revenue stream.

Further, in their argument on this point, Appellants heavily imply, through their citation and discussion of <u>Parrish v. Hillsborough County</u>, 123 So. 830 (Fla. 1929), that the entire expense of the Project will be borne by the abutting property owners. However, the record below clearly reflects that the Bonds will be supported by *both* special assessments *and* Tourist Development tax dollars. In

addition, State funds are expected to fund a portion of the Project on Okaloosa Island. It is contemplated that the special assessments will only fund approximately 24% of the Project for Okaloosa Island, and 36% of the Project for Western Destin. See Ocean Beach Hotel Co. v. Town of Atlantic Beach, 2 So. 2d 879 (Fla. 1941) (distinguishing Parrish where the special assessment did not provide the entire cost of construction for a seawall). The particular mix of revenues used is solely within the budgetary discretion of the Board of County Commissioners, limited only by restrictions on the use of a particular revenue source. For these reasons, Appellants arguments should be rejected.

II. THE COUNTY COMPLIED WITH ALL PROCEDURAL REQUIREMENTS FOR VALIDATION OF THE BONDS.

The procedures relevant to a bond validation are established by statute. Pursuant to section 75.03, Florida Statutes:

As a condition precedent to filing of a complaint for the validation of bonds or certificates of debt, the county, municipality, state agency, commission or department, or district desiring to issue them shall cause an election to be held to authorize the issuance of such bonds or certificates and show prima facie that the election was in favor of the issuance thereof, or, when permitted by law, adopt an ordinance, resolution or other proceeding providing for the issuance of such bonds or certifications in accordance with law.

Pursuant to section 75.03, the County adopted their bond resolution prior to filing the Validation Complaint. Accordingly, the County was in compliance with the condition precedent provided by section 75.03.

Appellants argue, however, that the County failed to comply with a condition precedent because of the procedures it used in adopting Resolution 08-125. Although this is not the condition precedent contemplated by section 75.03, the County nevertheless also complied with the procedures set forth in its special assessment ordinance. Under Ordinance No. 07-71, the County sets forth a procedure for the imposition of a special assessment within the boundaries of the MSBU. Under the ordinance, an initial assessment resolution is adopted solely for the purpose of directing the provision of various notice requirements that are to be completed prior to the consideration of the final assessment resolution. Section 6 of Ordinance No. 07-71 provides as follows:

SECTION 6. INITIAL ASSESSMENT RESOLUTION. The initial proceeding for the Assessment Areas and imposition of an Assessment shall be the Board's adoption of an Initial Assessment Resolution. The Initial Assessment Resolution shall (A) describe the real property to be located within the Assessment Area; (B) describe the Local Improvement or Related Service proposed for funding from proceeds of the Assessments; (C) estimate the Capital Cost, Service Cost, or Project Cost in the event Obligations are to be issued; (D) describe with particularity the proposed method of apportioning the Capital Cost, Service Cost, or Project Cost among the parcels of real property located within the proposed Assessment Area, such that the owner of any parcel of property can objectively determine the number of Assessment Units and the amount of the Assessment; (E) describe the provisions, if any, for acceleration and prepayment of the Assessment; (F) describe the provisions, if any, for reallocating the Assessment upon future subdivision; and (G) include specific legislative findings that recognize the fairness provided by the apportionment methodology.

(Plf. Ex. 2 at 6).

The Board scheduled a hearing on the assessment for August 7, 2008. Both published and mailed notice was completed more that twenty (20) days prior to the August 7th hearing and in each of these notices, the public was notified that both the proposed assessment roll and the methodological report were available for inspection. (Plf. Ex. 12). Further, the mailed notice actually notified the property owner of the maximum amount that there assessment would be should the proposed final assessment resolution be adopted by the Board. (Plf. Ex. 3; IB App. Order at 13-14). As all of the requirements and conditions precedent for consideration of the Final Assessment Roll, as required by Ordinance 07-71, had been satisfied prior to the August 7, 2008 hearing, there was no need for a separate hearing for adoption of an Initial Assessment Resolution for that purpose.

The Board, in adopting the Final Assessment Resolution, also expressly determined that it shall also constitute the Initial Assessment Resolution. The Board determined as follows:

This Resolution shall constitute both the Initial and Final Assessment Resolution, as contemplated under the Ordinance. The board specifically approves the apportionment methodology contained in the Okaloosa County Feasibility Study for Beach Restoration on Okaloosa Island and the City of Destin Final Report dated October 1, 2007. That study, and the methodology contained therein, is hereby incorporated by reference. The Board hereby finds that notice by mail to each property owner subject to the Assessment and by publication has been provided in accordance with the Ordinance and Florida law.

(Plf. Ex. 3 at 8). Appellants' argument is not that the requirements of an Initial Assessment Resolution had not occurred, but rather that a separate hearing was required. Under these circumstances, as all the requirements that would be required by the Initial Assessment Resolution had been satisfied, the County had the authority to adopt Resolution 08-125 as both the Initial and Final Assessment Resolution. Appellants' argument on this point is without merit. ¹⁰

III. COMPETENT SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE SUPPORTS THE BOND VALIDATION WAS NOT PREMATURE.

Recognizing the limited scope of bond validation procedures, this Court has routinely determined that matters raised outside this limited review are collateral and not to be addressed. "The function of this Court in a bond validation

incorrectly. (Tr. Vol. III at 422).

¹⁰ Appellants also argue that the County's later adoption of its Amended and Restated Initial Assessment Resolution in 2009 (Resolution 09-105) constituted an admission that the procedure used in 2008 was flawed. However, the procedure was changed to avoid further conflicts, not because Resolution 08-125 was adopted

proceeding is to determine whether the authorizing body has the power to act and whether it exercises that power in accordance with the purpose and intent of the law." State v. City of Miami, 379 So. 2d 651, 654 (Fla. 1980). Issues such as the determination of need of a project, its financial feasibility, or the business judgment of the governmental entity are collateral matters beyond the scope of review. See Partridge v. St. Lucie County, 539 So. 2d 472, 473 (Fla. 1989); State v. Manatee County Port Authority, 171 So. 2d 169, 171 (Fla. 1965); Town of Medley v. State, 162 So. 2d 257, 258-59 (Fla. 1964).

The County has consistently maintained that many of the issues raised by Appellants regarding the permits for the Project, which had not been issued at the time of trial, were collateral to the bond validation proceeding, and were more appropriately addressed within the administrative process. The issues raised by Appellants include such items as the quality of sand to be placed on the beach. In addition, Appellants argued that the ECL for the Project would effect a taking of their private property rights even though no ECL had been set at the time of the proceedings below. (IB App. CC). The County argued below that these issues were not ripe for adjudication, that they were more properly the subject of an administrative action regarding any proposed permit, and were collateral to the bond validation proceeding. The trial court ultimately agreed in its Final

Judgment, holding that these issues were collateral to the bond validation proceeding. (IB App. Order at 20).

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